IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,626

TERRI LYNN CONLEY,

Petitioner Cross-Respondent,

vs .

BOYLE DRUG COMPANY, etc., et al.,

Respondents Cross-Petitioners.

OF

Ex. Ph

M# 1

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER-CROSS-RESPONDENT, TERRI LYNN CONLEY, ON THE MERITS

Dianne J. Weaver, Esq. WEAVER, WEAVER, LARDIN & LIROFF, P.A. P. O. Box 14663 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305) 763-2511

Nancy Little Hoffmann, Esq. NANCY LITTLE HOFFMANN, P.A. 644 Southeast Fourth Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (305) 763-7204

Co-Counsel for CONLEY

Nancy Little Hoffmann, P.A.Attorney at Law
644 Southeast Fourth avenue, fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 *(305) 763-7204

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER FLORIDA SHOULD RECOGNIZE A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST A DEFENDANT FOR MARKETING DEFECTIVE DES WHEN THE PLAINTIFF ADMITTEDLY CANNOT ESTABLISH THAT A PARTICULAR DEFENDANT WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INJURY.

PREFACE

This brief is submitted on behalf of the Petitioner, TERRI LYNN JONLEY, from a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, affirming dismissal of Petitioner's second amended complaint with prejudice as to certain Defendants¹ (R.657,705) and a judgment on the pleadings in favor of certain other Defendants² (R.833).

While affirming the orders below, the District Court of Appeal sertified the following question to this Court:

Does Florida recognize a cause of action against a Defendant for marketing defective DES when the Plaintiff admittedly cannot establish that a particular Defendant was responsible for the injury?

Conley v. Boyle Drug Company, 477 So.2d 600,607-608 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

In this brief, the parties will be referred to by name or as Plaintiff and Defendants. Reference to the Record on Appeal will be by R.1-836. Any emphasis appearing in this brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

¹ BOYLE DRUG COMPANY (hereinafter BOYLE); MERCK SHARPE & DOHME ORTHOPEDIC CO., INC. (hereinafter MERCK); ORTHO PHARMACEUTICAL CORP. (hereinafter ORTHO); E. R. SQUIBB & SONS, INC. (hereinafter SQUIBB); SANDOZ, INC. (hereinafter SANDOZ); and MILES LABORATORY (hereinafter MILES).

² ABBOTT LABORATORIES (hereinafter ABBOTT); ELI LILLY AND COMPANY (hereinafter ELI LILLY); REXALL DRUG COMPANY (hereinafter REXALL); and UPJOHN COMPANY, INC. (hereinafter UPJOHN).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In its opinion, the Fourth District Court of Appeal summarized the facts of the case as follows:

The issue presented in this appeal is whether the appellant, Terry Lynn Conley, who was allegedly injured as a result of the ingestion by her mother of the drug diethylstilbestrol (DES), may state a cause of action against numerous DES manufacturers even though she is admittedly unable to identify the specific manufacturer of the drug her mother ingested.

Ms. Conley filed an action against eleven defendants who manufactured the drug DES in 1955-56 and prior thereto. action alleges that in 1955-56, before Ms. Conley was born and while she was still in the fetal stage, her mother was given DES. Ms. Conley alleges that her mother was administered the drug in Broward County, Florida. later Ms. Conley, who is also a Florida resident, was diagnosed as suffering from cervical adenosis and underwent surgery for the removal of most of her cervix as well as other precancerous and cancerous lesions and tumors. alleged that her cancer is linked to the ingestion of the DES by her mother and that the drug was defective by reason of the cancer-causing agent it contained and the danger that agent presented to unborn children. She also alleged that she was unable to identify the manufacturer of the DES The trial court granted various ingested by her mother. motions to dismiss and motions for judgment on the pleadings because Ms. Conley was admittedly unable to identify the specific manufacturer of the drug her mother ingested. only issue which Ms. Conley raises on appeal is whether she must allege the identity of the specific manufacturer of the drug in order to state a cause of action.

Conley v. Boyle Drug Co., Inc., 477 So.2d 600,601-602 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). A more detailed account of the procedural and factual background follows.

The Plaintiff filed a complaint against eleven individual

Defendants who manufactured the drug diethylstilbestrol³ (hereinafter referred to as DES) during the period when Plaintiff was in utero,

DES is a synthetic compound of the female hormone estrogen.

rug during her pregnancy (R.1-17). After various motions and other responsive pleadings were filed, the Plaintiff secured permission to nmend the complaint (R.51).

The first amended complaint (R.52-70) alleged inter alia that the Plaintiff's mother was administered the drug between June 1955 nnd March 27, 1956, while the Plaintiff was in the fetal stage and that the Plaintiff has been diagnosed as suffering from cervical adenosis and has been required to undergo surgery for the removal for nost of her cervix as well as other precancerous and cancerous lesions and tumors.

The amended complaint further alleged that the various Defendants were being sued individually as the manufacturers of DES and as representatives of the class of drug manufacturers which have at any time between 1941 and the present manufactured, marketed, promoted or sold DES in the United States. It was alleged that the named Defendants were the manufacturers of a substantial share of the product sold for the purpose for which it was used, and that it aas the identical defective product that injured the Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs further alleged in their complaint that well before DES was first marketed to the general public in 1941 and continuously throughout the period of such marketing to the present, Defendants knew or should have known that DES was carcinogenic; that the Defendants knew or should have known of a grave danger that DES ingested by a pregnant woman would or could be transmitted to an unborn child; and that the Defendants knew or should have known that

fter varying periods of latency, DES so transmitted would or could lause precancerous or cancerous growths to attack the bodies of mersons who had been exposed to the drug before birth.

It was further alleged that prior to the Federal Food and Drug dministration's action in 1971 ordering the Defendants to cease warketing and promoting DES as a miscarriage preventative, the Defendants acting individually and in concert promoted, approved, authorized, acquiesced and reaped profits from sales of the drug for use by pregnant women for that purpose.

The complaint further alleged that the Defendants knew or should have known throughout that period that DES was neither effective nor safe when used to prevent miscarriages; that the Defendants never sested DES for its efficacy as a preventative of miscarriages or for its safety in terms of carcinogenic effects on pregnant women and on shildren they would bear; and that although the Federal Food and Drug administration only authorized production of DES for use by pregnant women on an experimental basis, the Defendants nonetheless marketed DES for such purposes without any warnings as to the experimental nature of the drug as a miscarriage preventative and to the potential carcinogenic effects on the unborn children.

The complaint further alleged that the Federal Food and Drug Administration expressly warned physicians and the general public in L971 that DES should not be used by pregnant women due to the carcinogenic danger to their unborn children, based on hospital reports confirming that DES was the cause or strongly indicative cause of cancer and other precancerous vaginal and cervical growths

In daughters exposed to DES before birth. The complaint further pointed out that the condition suffered by the Plaintiff and others is believed to strike after a minimum latency period of ten to welve years, and that the precancerous lesions and tumors of the type suffered by Plaintiff are believed to be precursors or renerators of vaginal or cervical cancer which is potentially fatal.

Plaintiff alleged that despite the Defendants' knowledge or eason to know of the carcinogenic dangers, the Defendants continued to market DES for use by pregnant women to avoid miscarriages without varning of its potential carcinogenic effects and without proper testing; that the Defendants continued to market DES without notice hat it was only conditionally and experimentally approved, or that thad no proven efficacy or safety as a miscarriage preventive; without monitoring the carcinogenic side effects or such use; and without reporting those side effects to the Federal Food and Drug dministration and the public.

The first amended complaint sought recovery from the Defendants ased upon their negligence in failing to conduct adequate tests, ssue warnings, monitor the medical history of persons exposed to ES before birth, and failing to record or report facts indicating hat DES is a carcinogenic threat to unborn children as they mature. he complaint further sought recovery based upon strict liability, lleging that DES was an unreasonably dangerous and harmful drug hen used for its advertised and intended purpose and that the regnant women and their attending physicians would and could not etect the harmful nature of DES unless clear warnings were expressly

ssued. The complaint further alleged that the Defendants failed to btain the consent of the Plaintiff's mother or other pregnant women to the experimental use of DES and that the Defendants breached express and implied warranties that the drug was fit and safe for ts intended purpose.

It was also alleged that the Defendants were guilty of fraud in representing to pregnant women and their physicians by means of iterature enclosed in the container that DES was safe and suitable or the purpose intended, and that Defendants had violated provisions of the Food and Drug Act regarding the manufacture, marketing and ale of misbranded drugs. Finally, the Defendants were alleged to ave engaged in a joint and concerted enterprise and an express or mplied agreement exploiting and adopting each others' testing, arketing methods, promotional campaigns, lack of warning and other ortious failures to test and report. The first amended complaint emanded compensatory and punitive damages against each Defendant.

All of the various Defendants responded to the first amended omplaint by either a motion to dismiss or an answer and affirmative efenses. Defendant BOYLE filed a motion to dismiss/quash/strike R.359-363), alleging that service had not been properly perfected, hat there was a lack of personal jurisdiction since it did not lo business or otherwise have minimum contacts in Florida, and inally that the complaint failed to state a cause of action because it failed to allege that BOYLE manufactured the DES in question.

Defendant ORTHO PHARMACEUTICAL also filed a motion to lismiss/quash/strike on essentially the same grounds (R.140-145).

Defendant SQUIBB moved to strike certain portions of the complaint that also moved to dismiss the first amended complaint (R.71-73) for failure to state a cause of action on the grounds that the first themsed complaint failed to allege that SQUIBB produced the drug incomplaint failed to allege that SQUIBB produced the drug in question (R.164-166).

The following Defendants answered the first amended complaint and moved for summary judgment: ABBOTT (R.94-99,161); ELI LILLY (R.107-117,138-139); and REXALL (R.74,223). Defendant MERCK moved to lismiss for lack of jurisdiction as well as moving for summary judgment (R.196).

Hearing was held upon the various motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment on September 7, 1982 (transcript appearing in the Record at R.232-275). As a result of that hearing, the court leferred the motions for summary judgment and granted the motions to lismiss on the basis that the first amended complaint did not state cause of action. The Plaintiff was given ninety days within which to amend (R.212). By separate order, the court also granted IERCK'S motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction (R.211).

The Plaintiff ultimately filed a second amended complaint in thich she specifically alleged that due to no fault of her own, she was unable to identify the specific manufacturer of the DES ingested by her mother, but that she was informed and believed that the drug

as produced from an identical formula utilized by all the Defendant rug companies (R.370).

The second amended complaint also contained an additional count or enterprise and/or industry-wide liability (R.376-377), in which he Plaintiff alleged that at the time of the manufacturing, arketing and selling of DES, there was an insufficient industry-wide tandard of safety and that each of the Defendants adhered to that tandard; that each of the named Defendants manufactured DES; that laintiff's injury was caused by that defective drug; and that the amed Defendants accounted for a high percentage of the DES on the arket at the time the Plaintiff's motion ingested it. Plaintiff urther alleged that all named Defendants jointly controlled the risk f harm to Plaintiff in that they adhered to an industry-wide tandard with regard to the safety features of DES, they had elegated some functions of safety investigation and labeling to thers, they had sold DES to each other to market under their own ames, and there was industry-wide cooperation in the manufacture of ES.

The second amended complaint further added a count for concerted ction (R.377-378) in which it was alleged that the Defendants' acts ad the effect of substantially encouraging or assisting the rongful conduct of the others, which in this case was the failure o adequately test and warn; that each Defendant knew the other efendants' conduct was tortious toward the Plaintiff, yet they ssisted and encouraged one another to inadequately test DES and to rovide inadequate warnings; that the Defendants' actions

consciously paralleled each other in failing to fully test and warn of the dangers of DES; and that the Defendants' wrongful action in concert with the other drug manufacturers in testing and marketing DES was a direct and proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injury.

Plaintiff further added a count for market share liability (R.378-379) which essentially repeated the allegations of the count on enterprise and/or industry-wide liability, and further alleged that the Defendants were the manufacturers of a substantial share of the DES which the Plaintiff's mother might have ingested, and that each of the Defendants should be liable for the proportion of the injury sustained by the Plaintiff as represented by its share of the market.

Finally, the second amended complaint contained a count for alternative liability (R.379-380) which alleged that each of the Defendants' actions, although independent, was tortious, and that injury was caused to the Plaintiff by one of them; that the Plaintiff was unable to prove which Defendant caused her injury, but was substantially certain that one of the Defendants named herein saused her injury; and that the Plaintiff was entitled to a judgment wased upon alternative liability.

The Defendants again challenged the second amended complaint on arious grounds. Defendants BOYLE (R.420-4241, MERCK (R.411-4121, NRTHO (R.489-4981, SQUIBB (R.415-419) and SANDOZ (R.425-429) filed options to dismiss. The motions of BOYLE, SQUIBB and SANDOZ were essentially predicated on the argument that the Plaintiff cannot dentify the manufacturer of the specific brand of DES which she

took; that the legal theories advanced by Plaintiff are not cognizable in Florid; and that the Plaintiff was not a person at the time of the alleged wrongs and thus was without standing to assert her causes of action for express and implied warranty, fraud and conspiracy. In addition, the motions of those Defendants sought to strike the punitive damage claim and various specific paragraphs of the complaint (R.415-429). Defendant ORTHO'S motion to dismiss was based on similar grounds (R.489-498).

In addition, both Defendant ORTHO and BOYLE sought to quash service of process upon them and alleged lack of jurisdiction over their persons (R.420-424;489-498). Defendant MERCK moved to dismiss the second amended complaint with prejudice solely on the ground that there was no personal jurisdiction (R.411-412). Defendant PARKE DAVIS, as well as UPJOHN (R.455-460), also moved to dismiss the second amended complaint (R.482-483) on the basis that there was nothing new in the second amended complaint.

The remaining Defendants, ABBOTT (R.461), ELI LILLY (R.440), MILES (R.434), REXALL (R.396) and UPJOHN (R.455) answered the second amended complaint. Most of these same Defendants also moved for summary judgment (BOYLE at R.484; ABBOTT at R.468; ELI LILLY at R.407; REXALL at R.393; SQUIBB at R.477; UPJOHN at R.473; and SANDOZ at R.430). The motions for summary judgment were, again, essentially predicated on the argument that the Plaintiff could not identify the source of the DES which her mother ingested, and that none of the joint or collective liability theories was applicable. In addition, the defense of statute of limitation was raised.

Upon hearing (transcript appearing at R.725-795), the court entered its order dated June 24, 1983 (R.657-658) in which it granted with prejudice the various motions to dismiss by Defendants SQUIBB, BOYLE, SANDOZ, MERCK and ORTHO, based on the Plaintiff's allegation that she could not identify the specific manufacturer of the DES alleged to have been ingested. The trial court further found that the allegations of the second amended complaint asserting a right to recovery under the concert of action, market share and enterprise theories could not legally suffice for allegations of legal causation.

In the June 24 order, the trial court also denied the motion to quash filed by Defendant BOYLE, and deferred ruling on all motions for summary judgment (R.658). Shortly thereafter, Defendant MILES moved for an order of dismissal (R.701) which the trial court also granted (R.705).

Thereafter, the remaining Defendants not encompassed within the June 24 order moved for clarification and modification (R.703,706,709,717). Additionally, those remaining Defendants filed notions for judgment on the pleadings (ELI LILLY at 797; REXALL at BOO; UPJOHN at 804; ABBOTT at 831). Upon hearing (transcript in the Record at R.809-829), the trial court denied ORTHO'S motion for clarification (R.830), but entered judgment on the pleadings in favor of those remaining Defendants⁴ (ABBOTT, ELI LILLY, REXALL and JPJOHN) (R.833).

⁴ Defendant PARKE DAVIS had previously been dismissed by stipulation (R.803).

The Plaintiff appealed the orders and judgments below, and Defendants ORTHO and BOYLE filed a notice of cross-appeal directed to the June 24 order (R.723-724). The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, issued a lengthy opinion⁵ in which it expressed its concern that traditional theories of tort law were inadequate to redress the Plaintiff's injuries and certified to this Court the question of whether Florida should recognize a cause of action against a Defendant for marketing defective DES when the Plaintiff cannot identify the manufacturer of the particular dosage ingested.

In its opinion, the Fourth District discussed the various theories of liability advanced by the Plaintiff in support of her position and, after concluding that only the Supreme Court had the authority to adopt one or more of the theories advanced, recommended that a modified market share theory be adopted by this Court.

Plaintiff has invoked this Court's jurisdiction to review the lecision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Defendants ORTHO and BOYLE have filed a cross-notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction with respect to its cross-appeal, which was not addressed in the opinion of the Fourth District.

Reported at 477 So.2d 600.

IMMARY OF GUMENT

TERRI LYNN CONLEY has sued a number of manufacturers of the drug DES, alleging that the drug was defective and dangerous when administered to a pregnant woman, and further alleging that she suffers from cancerous and pre-cancerous conditions as a result of her mother's ingestion of that drug while TERRI was in utero. She has admitted that she cannot identify which of the Defendants manufactured the particular pills her mother took, but further alleged that the DES was produced from an identical formula utilized by all the Defendant drug companies, and thus each of the Defendants was guilty of marketing a defective, unsafe drug which caused her injury.

The trial court held as a matter of law that Plaintiff's inability to identify the manufacturer of the particular dosages taken by her mother was fatal to her claim. The court dismissed the action with prejudice as to certain Defendants and entered judgment on the pleadings for those Defendants who had answered the complaint.

On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed based upon its conclusion that it did not have the authority to depart from established case law requiring identification of the manufacturer in a products liability case. However, that court made it clear that were it free to do so, it would relax the identification requirement in cases of this type, since the grievous wrong committed upon innocent victims of DES required that a remedy be afforded.

Accordingly, the court discussed at length the theories which have

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