IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRI	LYNN CONLEY,)		
	Petitioner,)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	67,626
BOYLE etc.,	DRUG COMPANY, et al,)		
	Respondents.)		

1

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE UPJOHN COMPANY

TED R. MANRY, III, of MACFARLANE, FERGUSON, ALLISON & KELLY Post Office Box 1531 Tampa, Florida 33601 Telephone: (813) 223-2411

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT, THE UPJOHN COMPANY

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida has always required that a Plaintiff identify the manufacturer who is responsible for the product allegedly to have caused injury. Plaintiff's inability to identify the manufacturer of the DES her mother ingested is not due to any tortious self-concealing conduct of the Defendants.

Plaintiff's various burden shifting theories of concerted, joint, or collective liability are totally inapplicable to the facts of a DES case, and are at odds with Florida's established "more likely than not" standard of proof of causation. The theories of concerted action, alternative liability, and enterprise liability had been properly rejected by the Courts as inapplicable, and inequitable in DES cases.

"Market Share" liability, in practice, results in nothing more than abandonment of fundamental prerequisites of law without a resulting balance of equities. Plaintiff's and the Fourth District's suggested modification of market share liability to allow a plaintiff to pursue but one manufacturer, under a joint and several liability theory, is nothing more than a return to the recognized inequities of alternative liability when applied to DES cases. The Plaintiff's proposed modified market share theory results in nothing more than a form of vicarious liability without even any theoretical rational basis. Due process standards are not satisfied if the probability is such that all of the Defendants held liable in Court are innocent.

-9-

This Court should not embark upon a radical change in tort law theory without a complete record. Any form of representative or industry wide liability will undoubtedly have effects upon society as a whole. Especially in DES cases, the policy considerations which should be examined under a full record militate against adoption of any of Plaintiff's theories. Policy considerations advanced by the Plaintiff in support of adopting their far-reaching theories are without merit in the real world.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

IN FLORIDA THE PLAINTIFF HAS THE BURDEN OF PROVING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S ACTS OR PRODUCTS CAUSED HER INJURY.

Plaintiff's and Amici's attempt to argue that their burden shifting theories involve only "identity" and not "causation" is without merit. As recognized in this Court's decision in Celotex Corporation v. Copeland, 471 So.2d 533, 538 (Fla. 1985), Plaintiff's theories of market share liability would wholly eliminate the tort law requirement of establishing causation. In Florida, the plaintiff has always had the burden of proof on all elements of an asserted cause of action. Included in causation is the identity of the manufacturer who is responsible for the product allegedly to have caused injury. E.g., Matthews v. GSP Corp., 368 So.2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., 336 So.2d 80, 87 (Fla. 1976); Sansing v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 354 So.2d 895, 895 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), cert.

-10-

denied, 360 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1958); Linder V. Combustion Engineering, Inc., 315 So.2d 199, 200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), aff'd, 342 So.2d 474 (Fla. 1977); Smith's Bakery, Incorporated v. Jernigan, 134 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961).^{3/}

Plaintiff alleges she cannot identify the manufacturer of the DES taken by her mother. Plaintiff cannot carry her burden of proof by attempting an <u>ad hoc</u> joinder of a miniscule number of DES manufacturers among the 149 in the 1955-1956 period <u>(Morton</u> at 598) who might <u>possibly</u> have manufactured the DES taken by her mother. Plaintiff must establish the defendant(s) who actually supplied the tablets taken. <u>Morton; West v. Caterpillar Co.</u>, <u>supra; Ryan</u> at 1006-1007; <u>Matthews v. GSP Corp.</u>, at 392. Mere possibilities are not enough in any circumstance:

> A mere possibility of such causation is not enough; and when the matter remains one of pure speculation and conjecture, or the probabilities are at best evenly balanced, plaintiff cannot recover.

> [Restatement, Torts (2d), §433B(1), Comment a;]

The burden is the same whether strict liability or negligence standards apply. <u>West</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Matthews v. GSP Corp.</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>McNamara v. American Motors Corp.</u>, 247 F.2d 445 (5th Cir. 1957); <u>Smith v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 227 F.2d 210 (5th Cir. 1955); <u>Asgrow-Kilgore Co. v. Mulford Hickerson Corp.</u>, 301 So.2d 441, 444-445 (Fla. 1974). See also Prosser, <u>The</u>

^{3/} This is in accordance with traditional tort doctrine throughout the United States. E.g., Coggins, Industry-Wide Liability, 13 Suffolk Univ.L.Rev.980,982 (1979); 1 Hursh & Bailey, American Law of Products Liability 2d, §1:41 (1974); Gray v. United.States, 445 F. Supp. 337 (S.D.Tex. 1978).

Fall of The Citadel (Strict Liability to the Consumer), 50 Minn.L.Rev. 791, 840 (1966); Prosser, Law of Torts, §41 at 241 (4th ed. 1971). The law of other states is in accord.^{4/}

In <u>Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc</u>., 445 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1984), this Court reaffirmed the basic common law standards of proof of causation in Florida by retaining the "more likely than not" standard of proof of causation in medical malpractice actions, and rejecting a theory of recovery for loss of a possible "chance to survive."

Reliance upon <u>West</u> by Amici, as evidence of this Court's alleged willingness to "relax" traditional burdens of proof, is unfounded. In adopting Restatement, Torts (2d), §402A, <u>West</u> specifically held that it was the plaintiff's burden to prove the defendant's identification to the injury causing product. **336** So.2d at 87. Accord, Morton at 595.

<u>4</u>/ As stated in <u>Daniels v. Smith</u>, 471 S.W.2d 508, 512-513 (Mo.App. 1971):

> Rules as to the burden of proof constitute a substantial right of the party on whose adversary the burden rests; such rules are indispensable in the administration of justice and should, therefore, be jealously guarded and rigidly enforced by the courts . . Neither difficulty nor impossibility of proof of a material element in a case, though unfortunate, will alter the rules of evidence, and the one having the burden of proof who cannot bear it is simply left with an unenforceable claim.

<u>Also</u>, Zafft at 246-247.

In <u>Matthews v. GSP Corp.</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court affirmed a directed verdict in favor of all defendants, other than the owner of a scaffold which failed because of a parted cable, because plaintiff had failed to prove the source of the cable.

Reliance upon <u>Cassisi v. Maytag Company</u>, **396** So.2d 1140 (Fla. 1st DCA **1981**), by Amici, similarly does not aid their argument. <u>Cassisi</u> did not eliminate or shift the plaintiff's burden of proving the defendant was responsible for the product. It, in fact, continued to recognize the burden that the plaintiff show that the defect existed at the time it left the defendant's control. There is no Florida authority imputing liability for a defective product in the absence of proof of the manufacturer's identity.

Nothing in the doctrine of <u>res ipsa loquitur</u> supports Plaintiff's burden shifting arguments. This Court has, in fact, condemned the attempted expansive applications of the doctrine of <u>res ipsa loquitur</u> to cases in which the existence of a causal relationship between the accident and the defendant's alleged negligence was wholly speculative. <u>Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. V.</u> <u>Hughes Supply, Inc.</u>, **358** So.2d **1339**, **1342** (Fla. **1978).** As Dean Prosser states:

> Certainly it is not the general rule that plaintiff may place the burden of proof of an issue upon his adversary merely by showing that he himself was ignorant of the facts and that defendant knows or should know, all about them. If it were, pure ignorance might be the most powerful weapon in the law.

> [Prosser, <u>Res</u> Ipsa Loquitur, (<u>A</u> Reply to <u>Professor Carpenter</u>), 10 Southern California Law Review **459**, 464 (1937)].

> > -13-

Neither is the concept of concurrent negligence of aid to the Plaintiff in this case. Plaintiff must still prove that the conduct of each defendant, considered separately, concurred to cause her harm, in such a way to make it not possible to determine the extent of damage for which each defendant is responsible. <u>Hudson v. Weiland</u>, 150 Fla. 523, 8 So.2d **37** (Fla. 1942); <u>Feinstone v. Allison Hospital</u>, 106 Fla. 302, 143 So. 251 (1932). An allegation that several defendants were negligent toward a diverse group of individuals, and <u>possibly</u> toward Plaintiff, does not carry the burden of showing the breach of a legal duty to the plaintiff. Only the company whose product was actually consumed has caused damage to the Plaintiff.

11.

PLAINTIFF'S THEORIES OF CONCERTED, JOINT OR COLLECTIVE LIABILITY DO NOT AND SHOULD NOT REPRESENT THE LAW OF FLORIDA AND WERE PROPER-LY DISMISSED.

It has been said that the Courts "...cannot [and should not] pluck negligence out of thin air". <u>Memorial Park, Inc. v.</u> <u>Spinelli</u>, 342 So.2d 829 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), cert. denied, 354 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1978). Neither should they do so with respect to liability theories on the basis of allegations of complaints, totally unsupported factual statements, and bald rhetoric. Nevertheless, this Court is now being called upon to do just that, and to address the issue bypassed in <u>Celotex</u>, supra. As this Court has already noted in <u>Celotex</u> at 538-539, even with **DES** cases, many of which this Court cited, the clear majority of courts have refused to abandon the traditional safeguards of tort law by placing the burden of proof of causation on the defendants.

In <u>Celotex</u>, this Court was not directly involved with **DES**. Unfortunately, the present case is, technically, only a case involving the dismissal of a complaint and/or judgment on the pleadings without a fully developed record concerning the Plaintiff in particular, or **DES**. Plaintiff and Amici make many statements which are completely unfounded concerning the manufacturing and marketing of **DES**, as well **as** its alleged effects. Accordingly, in examining the various theories advanced by Plaintiff and Amici, this brief must, necessarily, draw on established sources beyond the Record at least to attempt to give the Court a balanced picture should it determine to make a major policy shift without a complete Record.

A. <u>Concert Of Action</u>.

In standing on the conclusionary allegations of her Complaint, Plaintiff simply asks this Court to ignore that virtually every court which has considered the issue has rejected concert of action theories in **DES** cases. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Lyons; Morton;</u>, <u>Ryan;</u> <u>Payton</u>, 512 F.Supp.; <u>Tidler; Sindell</u>; <u>Zafft</u>. <u>Contra Able v</u>. <u>Eli Lilly and Co.</u>, 418 Mich. 311, 343 N.W.2d 164, 175-177 (1984), on basis of pleadings only.

-15-

Concert of action stems from criminal law concepts of conspiracy and aiding and abetting, and renders jointly and severally liable all who intentionally combine in an unlawful activity proximately causing injury. The concert of action theory does not eliminate Plaintiff's burden of identifying the party directly responsible for the harm.

As Plaintiff readily admits (Initial Brief, p. 24), concert of action as applied in Florida has been on "different facts". The elements necessary to establish concert of action were established in two early Florida cases. <u>Symmes v. Prairie Pebble</u> <u>Phosphate Co.</u>, 66 Fla. 27, 63 So. 1 (1913), and <u>Standard Phosphate Co. v. Lunn</u>, 66 Fla. 220, 63 So. 429 (1913). Both cases involved phosphate plants discharging into a stream, damaging the plaintiff's land. Joint recovery was not allowed because the tortious activities were separate and independent. No defendant had control or direction over the acts of any other defendant and there was no intention to act together. <u>Symmes</u> at 3; <u>Standard</u> at 432.

Concert of action has well defined limits. A defendant is liable only if he: (1) intentionally and actively encourages or participates in a wrongful activity; (2) with knowledge of the wrongful nature of the conduct; and (3) the joint wrongful activity is the proximate cause of the injury. <u>See</u> <u>Skroh v. Newby</u>, 237 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970) (cited by Plaintiff), and <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 184 So.2d 711 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (both involving illegal highway drag racing); <u>Insurance Field Services, Inc.</u> v. White & White Inspection & Audit Service, Inc., 384 So.2d

-16-

303 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), and <u>Bermil Corporation v. Sawyer</u>, 353 So.2d 579 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (both involving tortious interference with business relationships). These common law limitations on joint liability are consistent with rules in other juridictions. $\frac{5}{}$

Restatement, Torts (2d), §876, cited by the Plaintiff, retains these same limits. Clauses (a) and (b) announce essentially the common law theories of conspiracy and aiding and abetting, where the defendant agrees with another to perform a wrongful act, or provides knowing and substantial assistance or encouragement of a tort that causes injury. Thus, the Restatement would require pleading <u>(of relevant facts)</u> and proof of a knowing participation, as well as proximate cause, scienter and substantial assistance to a third party. <u>See Payton</u>, 512 F. Supp. at 1035.

The Comment to Clause (a) emphasizes another point dispositive of Plaintiff's allegations of joint conduct, and which has been found lacking in the vast majority of courts which have considered DES cases:

> [I]t is essential that the conduct of the actor be in itself tortious. One who innocently, rightfully and carefully does an act

<u>5/</u> <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Bierczynski v. Rogers</u>, 239 A.2d 218 (Del. Sup. 1968); Day v. Walton, 199 Tenn. 10, 281 \$.W.2d 685 (1955); <u>Knight v.</u> Western Auto Supply Co., 239 Mo.App. 643, 193 \$.W.2d 771 (1946).

that has the effect of furthering the tortious conduct or cooperation in the tortious design of another is not for that reason subject to liability.

See <u>Payton</u>, **512** F.Supp. at **1035**; <u>Ryan</u> at **17**; <u>Lyons</u> at **190-191**. The only type of "concert" ever discovered in DES cases was the joint pooling of information at the request of the FDA for the <u>1941 non-pregnancy</u> uses of DES, for which it is still recognized as safe by the FDA. Such action was obviously not tortious. Payton, **512** F. Supp. at **1038**.

Clause (c) of §876 states a variant on the rule of joint and several liability, where independent but concurrent torts cause a single injury. This constitutes a damages rule, not one of collective liability. It applies where two or more unrelated tort feasors proximately caused injury. It does not dispense with the requirement of product/manufacturer identification in products liability cases. <u>See Payton</u>, 512 F. Supp. at 1036, n. 4.

As stated in Morton at 596-597:

This Court agrees with the vast majority of courts that have considered the question: The DES manufacturers simply did not act in concert as that concept is defined in tort law. Their filings with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) did not represent concertedtortious conduct.

<u>Accord Ryan</u> at 1014; <u>Payton</u> 512 F. Supp. at 1037-1039; <u>Lyons</u> at 190-191; Sindell, 607 P.2d at 935; <u>Zafft</u> at 245.

Even Plaintiff's allegations, if allowed to stand in a vacuum, notwithstanding the wealth of case law establishing the development and marketing of DES, do not state sufficient facts.

-18-

The gravamen of Plaintiff's allegation is a so-called "conscious parallelism". However, there are no allegations of fact showing any "conscious parallelism" outside of that required by law and the FDA, regardless of the fact that the **1947** wholly independent submissions for <u>pregnancy</u> did not relate <u>at all</u> to the **1941** submissions and approvals. As stated in Morton at **597**, it is ridiculous to equate independent marketing of a generic product with some unlawful conspiracy:

> DES, it can be said, is DES; the defendants could not market the active ingredient in DES in any formula other than that prescribed in the United States Pharmacopoeia. **21** U.S.C., **§351 (1956).**

These and similar allegations have been repeatedly found wanting. Their legal insufficiency has been summarized well in <u>Sindell</u>, 607 P.2d at 932-933. <u>Accord Payton</u>, 512 F. Supp. at 1037-1039; <u>Ryan</u> at 1017-1018; <u>Lyons</u> at 190-191; <u>Zafft</u> at 245; <u>see</u> Note, <u>Market Share Liability and DES - Sindell v. Abbott Laboratories:</u> <u>Square Pegs In Round Holes</u>, 13 Conn. L. Rev. 777, 794-795 (1981).

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